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1. ABSTRACT

Excavations were undertaken at Achanduin Castle, Lismore, Argyll (NGR: NM 8043 3927), over six
seasons from 1970 to 1975 under the direction of the late Dennis John Turner (1932-2013), henceforward
referred to as DJT. Partly funded by the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland and with tools and equipment
loaned by RCAHMS (now Historic Environment Scotland), the work was carried out in support of the
RCAHMS’s programme of survey in the Lorn district of Argyll. Its purpose was to examine an apparently
little-altered but much-ruined example of a castle of enclosure ascribable to a small but identifiably distinct
group of rectangular, or near rectangular, courtyard castles. D] T concluded that it was built ¢ 1295-1310
by the MacDougalls, and only later passed to the bishops of Argyll. The authors add their own observations
on the excavations in a separate section. They note tenuous evidence for a pre-castle phase. The bulk of
the report focuses on the erection and occupation of the castle, followed by abandonment, post-medieval
occupation, collapse/demolition and recent times.

2.INTRODUCTION drafted a report on the archaeological excavations
that he had directed, and he had assembled a
As seasonal work on the Achanduin excavation pumber of specialist reports. Finished graphic
progressed between 1970 and 1975, information jllystrations were prepared in the early 1980s, but
was provided to the RCAHMS team conducting by then DJT’s main focus of attention had shifted
the Argyll survey and summary updates were posted  almost completely to the historical background.
annually in Discovery and Excavation Scotland. The  This became the subject of a separate paper (Turner
RCAHMS survey of what was then usually named  1998), bu in the following decade he resumed work
Achadun Castle was published in 1975, in the second o1, the draft archaeological report, producing several
volume of the Inventory of Argyll series (RCAHMS  fther word-processed recensions of what he was
1975: 168-71, no. 276). By about 1977, DJT had obviously envisaging as a full-length monograph.
However, by the date of DJT’s death in early
e 2013 (Renn 2013-14; Guy 2013-14; Illus 1) the
NN report still remained an incomplete draft with
many gaps to be filled, sub-themes to be pursued

and overlapping texts to be concorded. Despite
these limitations, aware of the importance of the
excavation, especially of the artefacts, and out of
respect for their late friend, the authors agreed to
attempt to bring as much of the work as they could
to a published conclusion.

A first careful review of the material revealed that
the illustrations and specialist reports had not been
integrated with the main text, and that, whilst there
was a full discussion of the findings, an account of
the actual conduct of the excavations was lacking
and would have to be reconstructed from field notes
and sketches. Given these and other deficiencies,
the authors decided, in consultation with DJT’s
literary executor, Audrey Monk, that the only
feasible way of bringing the incomplete work into

the public domain was to reduce its scope from a
lllus 1 Dennis John Turner, 1932-2013 monograph to an edited article. Further discussions
(© Euan Turner) with the Society’s editorial team led to an agreement
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to publish a preliminary summary account in the
Society’s Proceedings (Caldwell, Stell & Turner 2015)
followed by this fuller report as a SAIR. This dual
approach, focusing strictly upon the salient features
of the excavation itself and upon the artefacts
recovered, has necessarily involved summarising or
setting aside some of what DJT had intended as
discursive chapters on the historical background,
the local maritime context and the possible analogies
and ancestry of the castle’s architecture, together
with equally wide-ranging would-be appendices on
masons’ marks and timber undercrofts. All of this
material will be found in the full excavation archive
which has been lodged in Historic Environment
Scotland, and this archive has also been accompanied
by other research papers and illustrations, mainly on
medieval West Highland history and archaeology, to
form an accessible Dennis Turner Scottish collection,
complementing his Coll archive which is already
lodged at Breacachadh Castle (Stell 2013-14).

'The work at Achanduin was undertaken long before
the days of research designs and desk-top assessments.
The purpose was quite simply to examine and date

Scottish Archaeological Internet Reports 73 2017

an apparently little-altered but much-ruined example
of a small rectangular enclosure castle (RCAHMS
1975: 168=71, no. 276; Illus 2—5). Castles of this
type had previously been discussed by Dunbar and
Duncan (1971: 7-13) and had been considered by
them to fall into two typological groups. Achanduin
is one of the group characterised by an enclosure
19-25m square: others in this group included
Castle Sween, Innis Chonnell, Duart (all Argyll)
and Castle Roy (Inverness-shire). The second group
comprised larger enclosures — around 36m square —
such as Tarbert (Argyll), Kincardine and Kinclaven
(Perthshire). The authors had suggested that both
classes of rectangular courtyard castles ‘typologically
... precede the developed enclosure castles of the later
13th century, such as Inverlochy and Lochindorb,
with their salient angle towers of circular plan and ...
they may tentatively be ascribed to the 12th or early
13th century’ (ibid: 8).

Dunbar and Duncan provided historical
arguments to support this dating in respect of
Tarbert, Kincardine and Kinclaven, while Castle
Sween and Innis Chonnell could also be accepted as

lllus 2 The western seaboard showing the location of Achanduin Castle, Lismore
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lllus 3 General view from north, 1970 and published in 1975 in RCAHMS, Inventory of Argyll, 2, Plate
37A (© RCAHMS. Licensor www.rcahms.gov.uk SC 715133)

Illus 4 Distant view from north-east, c 1970
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Illus 5 Ground plan as surveyed in 1971 and published in 1975 in RCAHMS, Inventory of Argyll, 2, Fig.
159 (© RCAHMS. Licensor www.rcahms.gov.uk DP 037606)

relatively early. Ardrossan Castle, Ayrshire (Caldwell
1971-2: 208), might be seen as a development of the
smaller type, while some hall-and-enclosure castles
in Argyll, such as Aros on Mull (MacGibbon &
Ross 1889: 125; RCAHMS 1980: 1737, no. 333)
and the second phase of Skipness (RCAHMS 1971:
165-78, no. 314) have many points in common with
the type. Castle Sween and Innis Chonnell have been
dated to ¢ 1200 and the first half of the 13th century
respectively (RCAHMS 1992: 245-59, no. 119;

RCAHMS 1975: 223-31, no. 292), while the second
phase of Skipness probably dates from the end of the
13th or early 14th century, a date-range that raises
questions which the provision of a date by excavation
for Achanduin might be expected to help answer.
Two of the major sections of the report that
follows, one a Descriptive Analysis of Structures
and Excavated Areas (section 6, p. 22), the other
a General Discussion and Some Conclusions
(section 9, p. 55), are specifically credited to DJT.
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The authors felt it important to report DJT’s views as
accurately as possible. Another section, Observations
on the Excavations (section 10, p. 58), is labelled
as the authors’ work to make it clear that the ideas
expressed were never discussed by them with DJT. He
may or may not have agreed with all that is suggested.

3. PHYSICAL CONTEXT

3.1 Geology

The island of Lismore is largely comprised of hard
Dalradian limestone which gives rise to a soil and
landscape unique in this part of the Highlands. The
well-drained hillsides with their fertile soils are covered
in short grass, cropped by grazing animals, and are
renowned for the wild flowers that thrive on the limey
conditions. The highly folded Lismore limestone
outcrops freely in the vicinity of the Achanduin site,
particularly in the sea cliffs, and is used in the rubble
construction of the castle (Illus 6-7).

Intrusions, belonging to the Tertiary sequence of
igneous rocks, occur in the form of regional dykes
emanating chiefly from the volcanic island of Mull.
Two visually different basalts can be identified in
the castle walls but both types were found by the
late G H Collins of the British Geological Survey in
the same basalt sill at the head of Bernera Bay some
150m from the castle. Collins also identified part
of this sill as a site where quarrying had apparently
taken place (Collins, pers comm).

Most of the freestone dressings used in window,
door and garderobe openings have been robbed:
those that remain are mainly of a coarse sandstone,
reportedly matched by Collins with quarry sources
in the vicinity of Ardtornish, Morvern. The
chamfered rybats from the north-east door of the
castle were identified by Collins as being specifically
of Carboniferous sandstone from Inninmore Bay,
Ardtornish, Morvern (RCAHMS 1980: 250, no.
383). Freestone from quarries in the Ardtornish
area was also used at Castle Coeffin, also on Lismore
(RCAHMS 1975: 184—7 at 184, no. 282), the former
cathedral on Lismore (ibid: 156—63 at 156, no. 267),
Dunstaffnage Castle (ibid: 198-211 at 199, no. 287),
Ardchattan Priory (ibid: 99-115 at 101, no, 217),
and Innis Chonnell Castle (ibid: 223-31 at 225, no.
292).1In the excavation assemblage of dressed stones
(see below, Architectural fragments) there is also
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Illus 6 Aerial view from west, 1977 (© British
Geological Survey/NERC. Licensor www.scran.
ac.uk 000-000-147-870-R)

Illus 7 Cliffs on the north-western flank of the
site,c 1970

at least one white fine-grained sandstone, probably
from Carsaig Bay, Mull (RCAHMS 1980: 248-9, no.
380 and refs cited). This was an identifiable source of
freestone likewise used for many churches and castles
in the region, most notably at Iona Abbey but also
including Dunstaffnage Castle and Ardchattan Priory
among those listed above.?

In the vicinity of Achanduin there is much
evidence for glaciation. The most prominent features
are the broad, rocky platforms and raised beaches
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backed by cliffs which almost encircle Lismore. They
are thought to have been created during a short-lived
return to glacial conditions which occurred between
12,500 and 11,500 years ago, when the sea-level had
dropped almost to its present position.

3.2 Local topography

In the Middle Ages, Scotland’s western seaboard was
for the most part linked not by roads but by the sea
(Stell 1988: 26-30; Illus 2). This was the super highway
of the day, which tied communities together and
created connections between places that, even today,
are frustratingly hard to join together by land transport.
Internal communication remained poor and Lorn was
evidently in a fairly primitive condition until at least the
second half of the 18th century. General Roy’s military
survey shows all the centres of population in the area,
including Oban, as simple hamlets (Roy 1747-55).

The predominance of marine transport has long
been observed and commented on. Indeed, the term
‘Hebridean galley-castles” has been coined (Macneil
2000) to describe the many castles of the Hebrides and
the adjacent mainland which, directly or by porterage,
were close enough to the sea to have been significantly
influenced by the existence of galleys or birlinns.
Achanduin clearly falls within this maritime group.

Even today, the Bay of Oban can be seen as a
‘cross roads’ for marine traffic: to the south-east is
the land mass of Lorn, penetrated by Loch Etive and
containing Loch Awe which is a virtual inland sea; to
the south-west is the Sound of Kerrrera with complex
island chains beyond; to the north-west is the Sound
of Mull, while the Great Glen runs north-east. At the
mouth of the Great Glen is the fjord of Loch Linnhe
and the Firth of Lorn, divided by the low, cigar-
shaped island of Lismore. Lismore is said (Munro &
Gittings 2006: 3006) to have an area of 2,244 hectares
(5,543 acres) and to rise to a height of 127m (417
feet) at Barr Mor near the southern extremity of
the island. During the 19th century, limestone was
quarried and exported. The island’s population has
fallen to its present level of around 150 from a peak
of 1,500 in the mid-19th century.

3.3 Castle location (lllus 2)

Achanduin Castle itself occupies the summit of a steep-
sided, ridge-shaped limestone hill rising from the island’s

Scottish Archaeological Internet Reports 73 2017

main rock platform at a distance of some 200m from
the north-west coast of Lismore and approximately 4km
from the south-western tip of the island. The main axis
of the hill runs, like that of the island itself; parallel to the
Great Glen fault zone, from south-west to north-east.

The castle overlooks diminutive Bernera Island and
the beaches of Bernera and Achanduin Bays. Beyond
Bernera is the open water of the Sound of Mull, with
Duart Castle on Mull clearly visible in reasonable
weather. Bernera and Achanduin Bays are two small
but sheltered anchorages facing in opposite directions
and separated by a sloping shingle beach up and over
which vessels could be drawn, creating, in effect, an
isthmus-like form of a doirlinn or tairbeart porterage.
As the bays were immediately below Achanduin
Castle, they would have provided two small but
undoubtedly convenient facilities, facing opposed
wind directions and sheltered to some extent from
westerly gales by Bernera Island.

Immediately outside the south-east and
north-west walls of the castle, the ground falls
precipitously: to the north-west there is a sheer cliff
having a maximum height of some 20m (Illus 34,
6-7), while the south-eastern flank, although less
precipitous, is also extremely steep. The approach
from the north-east, although steady, is also fairly
steep, and only that from the south-west is easily
negotiated. An approach from this latter direction
would have been graded and it may be surmised that
this was the route along which building stone would
have been transported, probably dragged on sleds.

A steeper slope from the western corner of the
enclosure leads north-west via a gully to a low point
in the sea-facing cliffs, where a rough, steep but
well-worn stair descends to the 25-feet (7.6-m) beach,
the main rock platform, and thence to the head of
Bernera Bay. At a distance of 50m NNE of the north-
eastern wall of the enclosure, another well-worn
path descends the sea-facing cliffs to a spring at the
base of the cliffs, the closest source of fresh water
that has been located. A small area of boggy ground
approximately 30m west of the castle may represent
the site of a closer spring available in medieval times.

4. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND?

The thinly documented history of Achanduin
Castle was summarised in the RCAHMS account
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(RCAHMS 1975: 171), and subsequently
discussed and revised in the excavator’s paper on
this subject (Turner 1998). DJT’s central argument
was that the bishop of Argyll, to whom the castle
is usually attributed, was an unlikely builder of
Achanduin, and that the castle was more likely to
have been constructed by the local secular lords,
the MacDougalls. The MacDougalls were the most
powerful kindred in Argyll and the Isles by the
mid-13th century, with the status of kings. Despite
an attempt by King Alexander II of Scotland to clip
their wings in a major invasion into their territories
in 1249, they remained a force to be reckoned with
into the early 14th century (Sellar 2004A, 2004B,
2004C). While subsequent private communications
revealed to DJT that his interpretations on the
building of Achanduin by the MacDougalls were
not widely accepted, his thesis has remained
unchallenged in print.

DJT considered that it was possible that
Achanduin Castle may have been granted to the
bishop in 1334, but, failing this, such a gift may
have taken place when the MacDougalls returned
to mainland Lorn more than a century later. Their
return and their building of Dunollie Castle on the
site of an ancient Dalriadic stronghold followed
the grant in 1451 by John Stewart, Lord of Lorn,
of ‘Dunolly’ and other lands to John Alani de
Lorn nominato Mak Dowil (John Maol) and his
son, John Maol being recognised as chief of the
MacDougalls (Sellar 1986: 8; RCAHMS 1975:
194-8, no. 286). The MacDougalls had apparently
abandoned Achanduin some time before this, but
George Lauder, bishop of Argyll, certainly seems to
have had possession of Achanduin Castle in 1452
and for a short time to have taken up occupation
(Thomson 1819: 14-15; Thomson 1877: 50-1).
DJT deduced that the castle had probably been
given to the bishopric at an earlier date but that the
bishops had not found much use for it, given that
the archaeological evidence had suggested to him
that there was little occupation of the castle from
¢ 1400 through to comparatively modern times. To
DJT, the events of 1452 seemed to imply that the
bishop was an infrequent visitor to Lismore.*

DJT felt that there was enough circumstantial
evidence to accept that Achanduin was one of the
MacDougall strongholds of the 1290s, but that there

was insufficient evidence to ascribe its construction
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to the impecunious bishops of Argyll. To him,
there was no certainty that the 2%2 pennylands of
‘Achacendun’, part of 14 pennylands in ‘Lesmore’
granted by Eugenius [Ewen MacDougall] in 1240,
did include the site of the castle, but it seemed more
possible that the substantial 14th-century grants
did so (Turner 1998: 649-50). He also felt that,
as described and discussed below, the change in
scale of building in the north corner of the castle
enclosure might be most plausibly explained by the
uncertainties of the early 1300s and, even more
convincingly, by the sharp setback in MacDougall
fortunes in and after 1308.

In 1307, the political situation had been
transformed by the death of Edward I, King of
England. From the very beginning of his reign,
Edward II, the new English king, seems to have
been able to call on John MacDougall of Argyll as
his lieutenant, appointing him on 2 October 1307
as ‘Sheriff of Argyll and Inchegall [the Hebrides] and
guardian of these parts against the enemy’. However,
as Edward was to find, MacDougall territorial
strength was soon to be overwhelmed by the military
campaigns of Robert Bruce. In October 1307, Bruce
captured the Comyn stronghold at Inverlochy, and
in 1308 he carried the attack to the MacDougalls
of Lorn in their own heartlands, John MacDougall
writing to Edward apprising him of the situation
(Bain 1887: 16; Barrow 1988: 179; Barrow 1999).
The Battle of Ben Cruachan, formerly known as the
Battle of the Pass of Brander (Duncan 1997: 362—7;
Duncan 1999), in 1308 and the fall of Dunstaffnage
in 1308 or 1309 led to the forfeiture of Alexander,
Lord of Argyll, and his son, John.

DJT considered it notable that in all the lists of
redistributed lands of the MacDougall lordship,
Lismore alone was never once mentioned. He
concluded that it was possible that, while most of
the property was stripped from the family, they
may have been allowed to retain Lismore. He could
envisage Achanduin and Coeffin being occupied
by MacDougalls throughout the 14th and possibly
into the 15th century, whilst acknowledging that
not much is heard about the MacDougalls or of the
bishop at that time.

He further considered that the MacDougalls may
not have been formally exiled but sought asylum at
their own discretion at the English court, along with
their ‘personal’ bishop. On 1 April 1310, Edward
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IT ordered money for the payment of the men of
Alexander and John ‘serving in Ireland’ (Bain 1887:
26ft), and similar payments of 50 marks each were
made to Alexander and John ‘for their sustenance’.
On 16 June 1310, both John and his father appeared
at Westminster for a Council meeting with Edward.
On 20 July 1310, Edward arranged for money and
victuals for Alexander and his two sons, John and
Duncan. Alexander of Lorn died around December
1310 and John in September 1316.°

Nothing could disguise the fact that between
1309 and 1316 John MacDougall was a beaten
man, conducting a forlorn campaign to recover his
position in Argyll. He lived in exile, his family and
some of his friends and retainers with him until his
death in September 1316. He had one or two boats
of his own but not enough, even with English and
Irish reinforcements, to stop either Edward Bruce’s
invasion of Ireland or to carry the war to the enemy.
His power base had been mainland Argyll, and for
Edward II he had proved to be a broken reed. Either
Edward totally misjudged the political balance of
power in the Hebrides or had mistakenly hoped to
turn the MacDonalds. They remained attached to
the Bruce faction and, in the long term, this was to
consolidate the political primacy of the Lordship
of the Isles for the next two centuries.® DJT’s
previous paper (Turner 1998) took the history of
the Argyll see to the documented visit by the bishop
to Lismore and to the castle of Achanduin in 1452.
From that time onward, if not before, the bishops of
Argyll seem to have preferred to reside occasionally
at Dunoon (Dowden 1912: 386; RCAHMS 1992:
273—6 at 274, no. 127), while the construction
between 1508 and 1512 by Bishop David Hamilton
of a castle at Saddell in Kintyre (RCAHMS 1971:
161-5, no. 313) may be seen as ending any residual
interests the bishops may have had in the castle on
Lismore.

As first pointed out by Carmichael (Carmichael
1948: 122; see also Hay 2009: 104-5), in the 1630s
Sir James Livingston of Skirling, Keeper of the Privy
Seal, received a lease of the temporalities of the
bishopric of Argyll from Charles I and was said to
have resided at Achanduin in that period. Although
RCAHMS (RCAHMS 1975: 171, no. 276) could
find no documented authority for this tradition, an
entry under the great seal ratified such grants made
in favour of Livingston in 1641 and 1642 and his
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assignation of the spiritualities and temporalities to
the Marquess of Argyll in 1648 (Thomson 1897:
708-9, no. 1903). Indeed, in 1666 the farm of
Achanduin was in the possession of the ninth Earl
of Argyll, who wadset it to Colin Campbell of
Loch Nell, but there is no mention of the castle in
the transaction (Campbell 1933—4: 2, no. 1321).
There is a local tradition that Hector Maclaine of the
Lochbuie family (¢ 1605-87), who was appointed
bishop of Argyll in about 1680 and was the last
incumbent before the Revolution of 1688-9, unlike
his predecessors, maintained his seat in Lismore and
occupied what is referred to in a secondary source
(Carmichael 1948: 132) as the bishop’s palace at
Achanduin. DJT was unable to identify a primary
authority for this tradition.

5. EXCAVATION AIMS AND METHODS

Unfortunately, none of the many word-processed
recensions drafted by DJT contains a coherent
account of how the Achanduin Castle excavation
was actually conducted. Throughout these drafts
his attention was focused almost exclusively on
interpretations and discursive analyses of the
historical background and, to a lesser extent, the
archaeological evidence, and one has to assume
that he was carrying forward a basic account of the
excavation itself as a final instalment, sadly never
to be completed. Obviously lacking his first-hand
recall, the authors considered that an attempt to fill
this gap was essential in order to convey some sense
of the excavator’s thought processes, methodology,
progress and results.

In order to reconstruct such an account, the
authors have had to go back to DJT’s primary
manuscripts, most notably his field notes and his
season-by-season reviews, and to extract references
from these sources that appear to be key to a
chronological and spatial understanding of the
conduct of the excavation. The summary overall
picture that emerges from this evidence is that the
excavations extended over six seasons between 1970
and 1975, each season usually consisting of a period
of up to three weeks, and in two cases four weeks,
centred usually upon the month of August. During
these seasons, different parts of the interior of the
castle were excavated, the trenches being located in
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nine main areas which were designated Areas I-IX,
some with sub-areas (Illus 8, 9). Additionally, the
forebuilding, eastern garderobe tower and the north-
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